

COPYRIGHT AND CITATION CONSIDERATIONS FOR THIS THESIS/ DISSERTATION





- Attribution You must give appropriate credit, provide a link to the license, and indicate if changes were made. You may do so in any reasonable manner, but not in any way that suggests the licensor endorses you or your use.
- NonCommercial You may not use the material for commercial purposes.
- ShareAlike If you remix, transform, or build upon the material, you must distribute your contributions under the same license as the original.

How to cite this thesis

Surname, Initial(s). (2012). Title of the thesis or dissertation (Doctoral Thesis / Master's Dissertation). Johannesburg: University of Johannesburg. Available from: http://hdl.handle.net/102000/0002 (Accessed: 22 August 2017).



ESTIMATING PORTFOLIO VALUE AT RISK BY A CONDITIONAL COPULA APPROACH IN BRICS COUNTRIES

by

TSHIKENDA LEOPOLD MUKALENGE

A dissertation submitted in fulfilment for the Degree

Of

Master's in Commerce

In Financial Economics

JOHANNESBURG

At the

College of Business and Economics

UNIVERSITY OF JOHANNESBURG

Supervisor: Prof Qing- Guo Wang

2018

ABSTRACT

This thesis used daily log returns of indices of BRICS countries from the period of March 11th 2013 to May 16th 2017. Its main focus was to estimate the value at risk (VaR) of a portfolio of the BRICS financial markets using a conditional copula approach.

A useful starting point was to apply the model of AR (1)-GARCH (1,1) with t-distribution and AR (1)-GARCH (1,1), using returns of the normal errors for the marginal distribution models in the copula framework. Two copulas, the normal and the symmetric Joe Clayton (SJC) copulas, were estimated as both constant and time-varying. The log likelihood of the time-varying copula was significantly more suitable than the constant copula.

The comparison of the performance of the copula models to the benchmark AR (1)-GARCH (1,1) was done using the Christoffersen test. The 99% VaR appeared fairly accurate, suggesting that the VaR models were dependable. The standard level of comparison AR (1)-GARCH (1,1) did not perform well compared to the SJC copula; i.e. the time-varying SJC copula performed better than the benchmark model. The time-varying SJC copula model used to estimate the portfolio VaR also showed a minimum number of exceptions in the back-test. This copula thus meets regulatory capital requirement for investors as stipulated in Basel II.

Keywords: Portfolio, Value at Risk (VaR), Conditional Copula, Back-testing

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

Firstly, I would like to take this opportunity to convey my appreciation and gratitude to my supervisor, Dr. Wang Qing-Guo, for his valuable guidance and encouragement during this thesis . The resources and advice that he provided were indispensable and I am grateful for the helpful pointers and clarifications he provided. Without his input, completing this minidissertation would not have been possible.

Special thanks go to my wife, Samba Kayembe Celestine, and the family Tshikenda. It is very difficult to express in words my gratitude for all sacrifices they have made for me.

Lastly, I wish to extend my deepest gratitude to the Baha i Community, and to all my friends, especially Leon Mishindo, Olivier Musampa and Dr Alain Mwamba, who supported me in many ways during the period of study.

Johannesburg, December 2017

UNIVERSITY OF JOHANNESBURG

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ABSTRACT
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTSi
TABLE OF CONTENTS ii
LIST OF FIGURES
LIST OF TABLESv
LIST OF SYMBOLSvi
Chapter: I Introduction
1.1 Background and problem statement
1.2 Objective of thesis
1.3 Methodology
1.4 Relevance of thesis
1.5 Structure of the thesis
Chapter 2 Literature review
Chapter: 3 BRICS markets
3.1 Introduction
3.2 IBOVSPA Index (Brazil)
3.3 MICEX Index (Russia)
3.4 Bombay Stock Exchange - SENSEX (India)
3.6 FTSE/JSE ALL SHARE Index (South Africa)
Chapter 4 Study methodology10
4.1. Model AR-GARCH
4.2. Copula theory
4.2.1 Definition of copula
4.2.2 Bivariate CDF
4.2.3 Sklar's theorem
4.2.4 Choosing a bivariate copula
4.2.5 Selecting parameters
4.2.6. Comparing and selecting between different copulas
4.3. Value at risk

4.4 Back-testing	19
4.4.1 Christoffersen test	20
4.4.2 Kupiec test	21
Chapter: 5 Data, simulation and analysis	22
5.1. Data description	22
5.2 The models for the marginal distribution	32
5.3 Estimation of the copula models	36
5.4 Value at risk and Christofferson back-test results	47
Chapter 6 Discussion and conclusion	52
6.1 Summary of results	52
6.2 Limitations and future work	52
References	54



LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 5-1: The complete data set of the price indices of all stock markets23
Figure 5-2: The log returns series of original data
Figure 5-3: QQ-plots of the returns of the stock market indices versus normal density
Figure 5-4: Plot of JSE and SENSEX
Figure 5-5: Plot of JSE and MICEX
Figure 5-6:Figure 6: Plot of JSE and IBOV
Figure 5-7: Plot of JSE and SSE
Figure 5-8: The dependency structure: Normal and SJC copulas – upper and lower tail
dependence between the South African and Indian stock markets (JSE-SENSEX)43
Figure 5-9: Constant and time-varying normal copula and SJC copulas – upper and lower tail
dependence between South African and Brazilian stock markets (JSE-IBOV)44
Figure 5-10: Constant and conditional normal copula and the SJC copulas – lower and upper
tail dependence between South African and Russian stock markets (JSE-MICEX)45
Figure 5-11: The dependency structure of normal copula and the SJC copulas – lower and
upper tail dependence between South African and Chinese stock markets (JSE-SSE)



LIST OF TABLES

Table 5-1: ADF and PP unit root test results	25
Table 5-2:Descriptive statistics of daily returns stock indices *	26
Table 5-3: Linear correlation between the five returns of BRICS indices	29
Table 5-4: Results for AR (1)-GARCH (1,1) – Normal estimations	33
Table 5-5: Represents the estimation of AR (1)-GARCH (1,1) – student t	34
Table 5-6: P-value for standardized squared residuals and standardized residuals	36
Table 5-7: Comparison copula models (AIC)	37
Table 5-8: Dependence of estimated parameters of copulas between the South Africa inde	x and
other indices	38
Table 5-9: Summary statistics of the time-varying correlation variable	41
Table 5-10:Summary statistics of the measure of tail dependence	42
Table 5-11:Back-testing results for the pair JSE-SENSEX	48
Table 5-12:Back-testing results for the pair JSE-IBOV	48
Table 5-13: Back-testing tests results for the pair JSE-MICEX	49
Table 5-14: Back-testing tests results for the pair JSE-SSE	49
Table 5-15:Comparative analysis for Latin-American, Europe and North America, and BRICS	50

UNIVERSITY ______OF_____ JOHANNESBURG

LIST OF SYMBOLS

ADF	Augmented Dickey-Fuller test
ARCH	Autoregressive conditional hesteroscedasticity
ARMA	Autoregressive moving average
BRICS	Brazil, Russia, India, China, South Africa
BSE	Bombay Stock Exchange
CDF	Cumulative distribution function
DAX	Deutscher Aktien Index
EVT	Extreme Value Theory
EWMA	Exponential Weighted Mean Average
FTSE	FTSE 100 Index
GARCH	The generalized autoregressive conditional heteroscedasticity
IBOV	Bolsa de Valores do Estado de Sao Paulo
JSE	Johannesburg Stock Exchange
LR	Likelihood ratio
MICEX	Moscow Interbank Currency Exchange
MLE	Maximum likelihood estimation
PP	Phillips-Peron test
SENSEX	Sensitive Index
SJC	Symmetrized Joe-Clayton
SSE	Shanghai Stock Exchange
TSX	Toronto Stock Exchange
VaR	Value at risk

UNIVERSITY ______OF ______ JOHANNESBURG

Chapter: I Introduction

1.1 Background and problem statement

In financial institutions such as investment firms and banks, risk management is of great importance. Indeed, Basel II (Basel Committee on Banking Supervision, 2011) requires financial institutions to provide minimum financial capital to cover potential losses related to their exposure toward credit risk, operational risk and market risk. It is recommended that these institutions use value at risk (VaR) to measure the specific portfolios in terms of market risks. VaR is considered to be the worst loss over a given confidence level and time horizon.

During the last few years, risk management has become a critical concern in financial industry. In order to estimate and regulate market, credit and operational risks, final institutions put in developing reliable risk measurement and management techniques.

The use of Value at Risk models is among the main advanced technique. These models help to evaluate the worst expected loss of portfolio of financial instrument at a pre-specified time and level confidence. One of the attractive property is to summarize market risks in one single number. This simple outcome is very significant for risk managers because it makes this technique very informative and easily understood.

The weakness of the VaR models is related to its dependence on distributional assumptions. Besides this weakness, risk managers have emphasized in the idea of adding VaR estimates the stress testing technique. Risk management is characterized by the volatility forecasts of the portfolio return. Therefore, a firm needs a time dynamic forecast that will take into account the dynamic properties of variance such as volatility clustering. Good forecasting also provides better control of market financial risks and lead to good decisions.

VaR is a single, summary, statistical measure of possible portfolio losses aggregates all of the risk. Specifically, value at risk is a measure of losses due to normal market movement. Losses greater than the value at risk are suffered only with a specified small probability. Subject to the simplifying assumptions used in its calculation, value at risk aggregates all of the risks in a portfolio into a single number suitable for use in the board room, reporting to regulators, or disclosure in an annual report, one crosses the hurdle of using a statistical measure, the concept

of value at risk is straight forward to understand. It is simply a way to describe the magnitude of the likely losses on the portfolio.

The two most important characteristics of VaR are: the availability of risk across different positions and risk factors. It enables us to measure the risk associated with a fixed-income position risk. VaR give us a common risk yardstick, and this measure makes it possible for institutions to manage their risks in new ways. VaR models take account for the correlation is essential if we are to able to handle portfolio risks in a statistically meaningful way.

1.2 Objective of thesis

The use of the multivariate conditional distribution, specifically in terms of the asymmetric dependence and heavy tails, is crucial to the application of financial methods such as portfolio selection, asset pricing, and risk management and forecasting. However, research thus far has generally concentrated on developed markets. Few studies have examined the role of South Africa in the global economy, particularly as emerging economy. This current dissertation follows on previous research and attempts to estimate the VaR of a portfolio formed from the major stock indices in the BRICS countries using the copula framework.

The focus here will be mostly on South Africa's dependence on the BRICS countries. A timevarying conditional copula as suggested by Patton (2006) will be used, thus the normal and the SJC copulas will be used, both with and without time-varying parameters and marginal distribution for the GARCH innovations.

In risk management, VaR thus plays a central role. At present, quantification of the asset market risk or a portfolio VaR has become the standard risk measurement applied by financial analysts. Three approaches are considered for estimating the VaR of portfolio: the historical simulation, variance-covariance (also called analytical variance) and Monte Carlo simulation approaches. However, Sollis (2009) states that variance-covariance approach (used in the risk metrics model) underestimates VaR owing to its assumption of distribution, the historical approach can be altered in same size and the Monte Carlo simulation approach may suffer through an incorrect assumption of distribution.

Moreover, the most important element in estimating VaR is the distribution of the financial logarithms returns of the assets constituting the portfolio. This process assumes that the logs of asset returns follow a normal distribution. However, this assumption has not verified when the

distributions of financial log returns series have large tails and are leptokurtic. Consequently, VaR models based on this approach tend to undervalue the risk.

Since the release of the risk metrics methodology, the analytical process has been generally used. Because the analytical process accepts the theory of the joint distribution of the assets returns by multivariate normal law, the best measure of risk is the variance, and the usual measure of dependence between the assets is the covariance matrix. However, as indicated above, this assumption of normality is not often adequate in finance.

The procedure used to determine VaR is thus critical. In financial, actuarial and economics studies, modelling with copulas has been used widely for multiple applications. The copula theory was initially presented as a means to separate the dependence structure among distribution functions. Applying copula theory risk analysis has also been discussed in finance literature, with most current studies generally using copulas in the context of developed countries, and only a few considering emerging markets.

An important study is that of Patton (2002) who has modelled time-varying conditional dependence in a recent extension to the conditional case of copula theory. In an earlier study, Patton (2001) used a proposition initially presented by Sklar (1959). This proposition establishes that an k-dimensional distribution function might be separated into its copula and k-marginal distributions. Note that copula expresses the dependence between the n variables. Patton has also extended Sklar's theorem to conditional probabilities, and has applied this theorem to the modelling of time-varying joint probabilities of the Yen exchange rate and Deutsche mark returns.

Palaro & Hotta (2006) presented some concepts and properties of the copula function and showed how the conditional copula theory can be a very powerful instrument to simulate the portfolio VaR with constituent NASDAQ and S&P500 indices. They used different copulas and marginal distribution for GARCH innovation and compared the results obtained with traditional methods of VaR estimation. They found that the symmetrized Joe-Clayton (SJC) copula allows for different dependences in the tail, producing the best results and reliable VaR limits.

Van der Houwen (2014) then later applied the parameters of the constant and time-varying SJC and normal copulas to the AR (p)-GARCH (1, 1) model of the returns of equity price indices of the DAX-FTSE 100, S&P500-FTSE 100 and S&P500-S&P/TSX. Applying a likelihood

ratio test, he found that the conditional copula provided a considerably better model fit than the copula with constant parameters.

1.3 Methodology

We have chosen the copula framework to estimate the VaR of a portfolio built upon the main stock market indices of BRICS countries. The objective of the thesis is to assess the performance of copula methodology with respect to those of the parametric AR (1,0)-GARCH (1,1) model. The benchmark model will be AR (1,0)-GARCH (1,1).

1.4 Relevance of thesis

The VaR model is one of the most common tools for estimating market risk, as it can offer information about the loss of a portfolio with an assumed confidence level. In turn, the estimation of the dependence of the time-varying conditional correlations model between variables is crucial in the construction of both a portfolio and its VaR (Embrechts et al., 2005). Because investors nowadays have more financial products from which to choose, the VaR evaluation of a portfolio is becoming more and more important. A risk manager concerned about likely loss might choose the lower tail of a copula, whereas a portfolio manager might choose the dependence structure of copula. This thesis provides valuables tools to policy makers, financial agents, and investors dealing with estimation of portfolio VaR using a conditional copula.

1.5 Structure of the thesis

The thesis is structured around six chapters. The introduction presented above is Chapter 1, and is followed by the literature review in Chapter 2. Chapter 3 addresses the BRICS markets, while Chapter 4 displays the econometric techniques used in the study, namely copulas, GARCH models and VaR and back-testing. Chapter 5 then illustrates the data and displays the econometric estimation, which is centred on the application of the conditional copula to estimate the portfolio VaR of the major indices in BRICS countries. Chapter 6 is the conclusion, and offers concluding remarks.

Chapter 2 Literature review

Various studies have discussed the methods and approaches for modelling VaR of diverse financial markets, and modelling with copulas specifically has been widely used for multiple applications in actuarial, economic and financial studies. This section reviews both the empirical and theoretical studies that have been conducted about VaR and copula models and relates their findings to this current study.

Copula theory was introduced over sixty years ago as a means to isolate the dependence structure among distribution functions. Partial solutions were first advanced by Hoedfing, (1940), Fretchet (1951) and Dall'Aglio (1956) among distribution functions. Sklar (1959) then consolidated those advances, creating a new class of distributions whose margins are uniform in (0, 1).

Sklar (1959) introduced the idea and the name of copula and, as such, the respective theorem now bears his name –, Sklar's theorem. From Dowd (2005) point of view, the power of the copula resides in the fact that it does not rely on assumptions related to joint distribution with regards to the financial assets of portfolio. Indeed, in finance, the hypothesis of normality is not suitable, as shown in Patton (2006) and (Ang & Chen, 2002). In their empirical study, these authors established a large correlation among asset returns during unstable markets and markets slumps. This deviation from normality indicates the inadequacy of the VaR measurement.

As a risk measurement technique in financial markets, the copula has thus been considered a valuable tool. It has been used in option valuation by McNeil et al. (2015) to investigate the period structures of the interest rates by Junker et al. (2006), in credit risk analysis by Giesecke (2004) and Cherubini et al. (2004) and to estimate the operational risk in banking by Demoulin et al. (2006)

Two VaR estimation models for six currencies have been presented by Nguyen & Huynh (2015), in which every series of return is supposed to follow an ARCH (1,1)-GARCH (1,1) model, and innovations are simultaneously produced using t-distributions and Gaussian copulas. Bob (2013) estimated VaR for a portfolio including Germany, Spain, France and Italy, combining copula functions, extreme value theory, and GARH models. In an earlier study based on semi-parametric approaches and using copula-extreme value, Hsu et al. (2012)

assessed portfolio risk for six Asian markets. In the simulation of VaR as suggested by Monte Carlo, they show that the Joe-Clayton copula EVT yields the best results concerning the shapes of the return distributions. Also using the Monte Carlo approach, Rank (2007) demonstrated the reliability of copula methodology for VaR analysis. He applied copula theory to create various scenarios of VaR.

Torres & Olarte (2009) also employed copula modelling for VaR analysis, while Embrechts et al. (2005) used copula methodology to create diverse scenarios for VaR analysis. In 2011, Shim et al. (2011) applied a copula approach to measure economic capital, VaR and expected shortfall. In their attempt to optimize portfolios, Krzemienowski & Szymczyk (2016) applied a copula based on extension of conditional VaR, while Yingying et al. (2016) examined the risk contagion and correlations among mixed assets and mixed-asset portfolio VaR measurements. Their approach followed a dynamic view based on time-varying copula models.

It should be noted that most studies are based in developed financial markets; copula studies on emerging markets are still scarce. Some early studies include research by Hotta, et al. (2008) and Ozun & Cifter (2011), who applied copula theory in VaR valuation in Latin American emerging market portfolios.

However, the methodology of the copula used in early research does not have a variable characteristic over time. In other words, this methodology does not include conditionality, and is what Rosengerg (2003) calls a constant copula. Patton (2002) developed the conditional copula through the variation in time between the first and the second conditional moments. The technique is now considered to be a VaR estimation.

A few years later, Rockinger & Jondeau (2006) demonstrated the challenges that the model of the dependence between stock market returns encounters when it follows a complicated dynamic fluctuation. In the case where the distributions are non-normal, it is not easy to precisely identify the multivariate distribution linking two or more return series. As such, they proposed a new method grounded on copula functions, which contains the approximation of the joint distribution and the univariate distributions. The dependence parameter can simply be extracted in both conditional and time-varying copulas. Their results suggested conditional dependency depending on past realizations for pairs of European markets only. Dependency, for these markets, is influenced more when returns move in the same direction than when they move in opposite directions. These authors also show in the modelling of dynamics of the dependency parameter that dependency is higher and more persistent in the middle of European

stock markets. Chen & Fan (2006) also utilized the copula structure to build a semi-parametric model based on the Markov approach.

Rockinger and Jondeau (2001) investigated a parametric copula conditional to the position of past joint observations in the unit square, combined with preceding marginal estimation of GARCH-type models with time-varying kurtosis and skewness. They considered the S&P500 and the Nikkei 225 for the return European stock indices and applied Hansen's generalized student's t as the error distribution for the GARCH models and the Plackett's copula. Their results provide empirical evidence that the dependency between financial returns may change through time.

Applying the copula and the historical empirical distribution in the estimation of marginal distributions, Cherubini and Luciano (2001) estimated the VaR. They employed the copula as another possibility for the multivariate GARCH models. Lee and Long (2005) then combined the multivariate GARCH model with the copula, allowing the flexibility of the joint distributions to evaluate the VaR of a portfolio composed of S&P500 and NASDAQ indices. They proposed, with uncorrelated dependent errors, a copula-multivariate GARCH model as compared with three multivariate GARCH models, and proved that the empirical mixed-model performs well as a multivariate GARCH in terms of in-sample model choice criteria and an out-sample multivariate density forecast.

In considering the above, it is evident that research using copula for estimating VaR has been conducted over the past ten years. However, most of these studies are based on developed countries, with little attention paid to emerging countries. Moreover, in the first investigations, the copula method applied did not contain conditionality – in other words, a time-varying feature. As such, we attempt to analyse the BRICS markets, using the copula method to calculate the VaR of a portfolio composed of their major stock market indices and to consider the performance of copula method compared to the parametric model AR (1,0)-GARCH (1,1).

Such a study is necessary, as today stockholders have more financial products from which to choose, and the VaR evaluation of a portfolio is becoming increasingly important. The aim of the thesis is likewise to provide valuable tools to polices makers, financial agents, and investors in terms of using a conditional copula in portfolio VaR estimation.

Chapter: 3 BRICS markets

A stock market index is a measurement of the value of a specific sector of a stock market. It is computed from the price of particular stocks, typically a weighted average, by investors and financial managers in order to describe the market and to assess the returns on specific investments.

3.1 Introduction

An index is a mathematical notion that cannot be invested in directly. However, many exchange-traded funds and mutual funds try to "track" an index, and these funds may be compared to those that do not "track" an index.

When considering the returns of a national stock index, the assumption is that the index portrays the distribution of the particular national stock market. The target stock indices in this thesis include IBOVSPA (Brazil), MICEX (Russia), SENSEX (India), SSE (Chinese) and JSE (South Africa). Each of these indices will be discussed below.

3.2 IBOVSPA Index (Brazil)

The IBOVESPA index represents an index of about 50 stocks traded on the Sao Paulo Stock, Futures Exchange & Mercantile Markets. The index consists of a conjectural portfolio, with the stocks accounting for 80% of the quantity traded in the previous 12 months, and is revised quarterly. he elements of the IBOVESPA about 70% of the entire stock value traded. IBOVESPA is an accumulation index representing the actual value of a portfolio started in 1968 with an initial value of 100 adjusted according to share price increase and adding the reinvestment of all dividends, subscription rights and bonus stocks received.

3.3 MICEX Index (Russia)

One of the major universal stock exchange in East Europe and the Russia Federation is MICEX, or the Moscow Interbank Currency Exchange. As an important Russian stock exchange, MICEX opened in 1992. As of December 2010, approximately 239 Russian companies were listed, with a market capitalization of USD 950 billion. Considering the overall volume traded in the Russian Stock Market, MICEX represents the large majority (more than 90%). In 2011, MICEX merged with Russian Trading System, creating the Moscow Exchange.

3.4 Bombay Stock Exchange - SENSEX (India)

The S&P Bombay Stock Exchange Sensitive Index, also called SENSEX, is a free-floatmarket-weighted stock market index, constructed on 30 financially sound companies listed and well-established on the Bombay Stock Exchange. These are some of the largest and most actively traded stocks, and are related to various industrial sectors of the India economy. The S&P SENSEX was formed 1978-79, with a value of 100 on 1 April 1979.

Currently, India represents an emerging market with about 8,000 listed stocks. There are two major stock exchange markets – the National Stock Exchange (NSE) and the Bombay Stock Exchange (BSE). Because the BSE is the largest stock market with the most trading activity in India, it was selected for this study. Corporations listed on BSE commanded a total market capitalization of USD 1.68 trillion as of March 2015 (World Federation of Exchanges, 2015).

3.5 The Shanghai Stock Exchange (China)

The Chinese index is a stock market index of all stocks that are traded on the Shanghai Stock Exchange (SSE). The SSE is based in the city of Shanghai, China. Its main characteristic is that the SSE is one of the stock exchanges that operates autonomously in the People's Republic of China – the other is the Shenzhen Stock Exchange. The SSE is among the largest stock markets in the world. In February 2008, SSE listed 861 companies, and total market capitalization of the SSE reached USD 3, 241.8 billion (USD 1= RMB 6.82).

3.6 FTSE/JSE ALL SHARE Index (South Africa)

The Financial FTSE/JSE is a capitalization weighted index. In the FTSE/JSE Africa Index Series, these stock indices are stressed and are intended to mimic the performance of South African companies, granting investors an inclusive and balanced set of indices that quantity the performance of the main capital and industry sectors of the South African market.

The FTSE/JSE All Share index embodies 99% of the full market float and liquidity criteria capital value of all ordinary securities listed on the main board of the JSE, subject to a minimum fee. According to official classification agencies, the JSE is at this time ranked the 19the largest stock exchange in the world by market capitalization and the largest exchange on the African Continent. In 2003, The FTSE/JSE All Share listed 472 companies, and had a market capitalization of over R 11 trillion. It is seen as the "engine room" of the South Africa economy

Chapter 4 Study methodology

To estimate VaR, the marginal distribution for all assets will be considered, followed by the specification of copula and the selection of the most suitable copula based on a detailed test statistic. Lastly, the VAR is calculated.

4.1. Model AR-GARCH

The effectiveness of copulas is established by their ability to simultaneously connect the marginal distributions to make joint distributions. Consequently, it appears obvious to first estimate the marginal distributions before undertaking to fit data to any copula model. The marginal distributions are typically estimated using the independent identically distributed observations taken from the raw data. However, in the the actual methodology, which is a common method, every single univariate distribution is fitted to a particular time series. Thereafter, the error terms are extracted and used as the margins. This practice assumes that the observations of the margins are independent over time, and is especially useful when applied to financial data where time dependencies are very common.

Let us set y as a real valued variable, we define y_t as a financial return at time t and it is calculated as $y_t = \ln\left(\frac{p_t}{p_{t-1}}\right)$, where p_t is the price of the financial time series. The variable y_t will then be modelled as follow

$$y_{t} = \mu_{t} + \varepsilon_{t} \qquad \underbrace{\text{OF}}_{\text{OF}} \qquad (1)$$

$$\varepsilon_{t} = h_{t}^{1/2} \cdot z_{t} \qquad (2)$$

Where μ_t describes the conditional mean $(E\{y_t | \mathcal{F}_{t-1}\} = \mu_t)$, h_t the conditional variance $E\{y_t^2 | \mathcal{F}_{t-1}\} = h_t$, and z_t is an i.d.d. process with zero mean and unit variance. The conditional mean will be specified through an Autoregressive (hereafter, AR) model and the conditional variance through an Generalized Conditional Heteroscedasticity (hereafter, GARCH) model. Both are explained in the following section. In the following we will introduce the basic features of the AR and the GARCH process

The Autoregressive model will be considered in a little detail because the conditional mean of the marginal model is estimated as a first order autoregressive process (AR(1) described by)

$$x_t = \mu + \phi_1 x_{t-1} + \varepsilon_t \tag{3}$$

Only if $|\phi_1| < 1$, x_t is said to be stationary and ergodic. x_t is here estimated with a constant.

In this thesis, we first fit an ARMA (1; 0) to lay down the conditional mean process and then a GARCH (1, 1) to set up conditional variance. At this stage, for consistent empirical data we need to generate marginal distribution related to every stock index and then establish a time-varying copula function for the entire portfolio.

According to Diebold et al. (1998), as the most common model to label the financial time series, the AR-GARCH (1,1) is considered to be a basic model for individual stock indices. Marginal distribution is calculated with normal AR (1,0)-GARCH (1,1), as follows:

$$X_{i,t} = \mu_i + \emptyset_1 X_{i,t-1} + \varepsilon_{i,t} \tag{4}$$

$$h_t^x = w_x + \beta_x h_{t-1}^x + \alpha_x \varepsilon_{t-1}^2 \tag{5}$$

$$\varepsilon_t / h_{x \sim N(0,1)X}^t \tag{6}$$

$$\sqrt{\frac{v_{x_t}}{h_{x_{i,t}}^x(v_{x_t}-2)}} * \varepsilon_{x,t} \sim iid t_{x_t}$$
(7)

where $X_{i,t}$ is the logarithmic difference of the financial asset and v_{x_t} is the number of degree of freedom; t is the student distribution while N is the normal function. After extracting the residuals from the time series, we can generate the marginal distribution based on these residuals, considering the use of either a non-parametric or a parametric structure.

Engle (1982) recommends the ARCH model to obtain the volatility clustering. In the ARCH model, the conditional variance is displayed as a linear function of past squared innovations. The general ARCH (q) model has the form:

$$\sigma_t^2 = w + \sum_{j=1}^q \alpha_j \varepsilon_{t-j}^2 \tag{8}$$

In order to keep the conditional variance positive, w > 0 and $\alpha_j \ge 0$, for j = 1, ..., q.

Unfortunately, to fit the data a large q is often needed. To solve this issue, Bollersley and Taylor (1986) propose a more parsimonious model as a technique for modelling permanent volatility

movements without estimating a large number of parameters. They thus introduced the GARCH (p, q) model, given by:

$$\sigma_t^2 = w + \sum_{i=1}^p \beta_i \, \sigma_{t-i}^2 + \sum_{j=1}^q \alpha_j \, \varepsilon_{t-j}^2$$
(9)

where w > 0 and $\alpha_j \ge 0$, and $\beta_i \ge 0$ for i = 1, 2, ..., q and j = 1, 2, ..., p.

The model represents a generalized version of the ARCH model, where σ_t^2 is the conditional volatility that is the linear function of the previous squared conditional volatilities as well as the squared innovations of the process.

To apply the parametric method, we rely on known common distributions, as student tdistribution, normal distribution and skewed normal distribution, then we fit parametric distributions for the residuals. Maximum likelihood typically assesses the parameters for these known distributions:

$$\widehat{\theta_m} = \operatorname{Arg} \operatorname{Max}_{\theta_m} \sum_{t}^{T} \log f(\varepsilon_{t,}\theta_m)$$
(10)

where \mathcal{E}_t denotes from the times series the residual at time t, and $f(\varepsilon_t, \theta_m)$ the marginal distribution function, where $\hat{\theta}_m$ is the estimated parameters.

When considering the non-parametric approach, the sample from empirical distribution will be studied to fit the residuals, as follows:

$$\widehat{F}(\varepsilon) = \frac{1}{T+1} \sum_{t=1}^{T} \mathbb{1}\{\widehat{e}_{t} \leq \varepsilon_{t}\}$$
(11)

(Patton, 2012)

In this thesis, we take into consideration the standard t and the standard normal distributions to model the conditional distribution of the standardized innovations. We denoted these models respectively by GARCH-t and GARCH-N. The next step will be to assess the joint probability of two financial assets. Comparing the suitability of different distributions can be done by using the Bayesian information criterion, or other information criterion.

4.2. Copula theory

The problem of modelling asset log returns is one of the most important issues in finance. An overall assumption is that log returns are normally distributed; however, empirical research has shown that asset log returns are leptokurtic and fat tailed. Another issue in finance that has been

receiving more attention after the 2008 financial crisis is the capital allocation within banks. Regulatory institutions have since advised banks to build sound internal models to measure risks (mostly credit and market risks) for all their activities.

These inner models applied to measure risks face a crucial problem, which is the modelling of the joint series of different risks. These two issues can be treated as copula problems.

4.2.1 Definition of copula

In literature, copulas are often defined as distribution functions whose marginal distributions are uniform in the interval [0,1]. A distribution function on [0,1] *[0,1] constituted by two standard marginal distributions is identified as the copula of two dimensions. More correctly, a function C (u; v) is called a two-dimensional copula function C (u; v) from I² to I if it has the following two characteristics:

- 1. For each u and v in I, C (u; 0) = C (0; v) = 0, C (u; 1) = u and C (1; v) = v:
- 2. For each u_1, u_2 ; v_1, v_2 in I such that $u_1 \le u_2$ and $v_1 \le v_2$,

$$C(u_2, v_2) - C(u_2, v_1) - C(u_1, v_2) + C(u_1, v_1) \ge 0$$

A function of the copula is its association of univariate marginal functions to their multivariate distribution.

4.2.2 Bivariate CDF

For X, Y random variables, the cumulative joint distribution function F (X, Y) with corresponding marginal cumulative distribution functions $F_X(x)$ and $F_Y(y)$ is named a bivariate CDF and is defined by:

$$F(x, y) = Pr[X \le x, Y \le y]$$
(12)

After describing the bivariate CDF, the marginal distribution functions may be informally defined as:

$$F_X(x) = \lim_{y \to \infty} F(x, y) \text{ and } F_Y(y) = \lim_{x \to \infty} F(x, y)$$
(13)

As well as the conditional distribution as:

$$F_{X/Y}(X/Y) = \frac{\partial F(x,y)}{\partial y} \text{ and } \quad F_{Y/X}(X/Y) = \frac{\partial F(x,y)}{\partial X}$$
(14)

We consider the joint function as follows:

$$F(x, y) = \Pr(X > x, Y > y) = 1 - F_X(x) - F_Y(y) + F(x, y)$$
(15)

(Trivedi, Zimmer 2005, pp 7-8).

This instrument does not need any assumptions regarding the choice of distribution function, and it allows the risk manager to break down any k-dimensional joint distribution function into k-marginal and a copula.

Despite the fact that the application of copulas to statistical problems is relatively recent, Sklar (1959) developed the theory behind copulas in 1959.

4.2.3 Sklar's theorem

A very important result is Sklar's theorem that states as follow: joint distribution can be written using marginal distributions and copula

Sklar's theorem, according to Nelson (2006) asserts that if F(x, y) is a joint distribution function with marginal cumulative distribution functions of F(x) and F(y), then there subsists a bivariate copula C such that for all x, y,

$$F(x,y) = C(F(x),F(y))$$
(16)

Where C is the copula of F(X, Y). UNIVERSITY

On the condition that F(x) and F(y) are continuous, the copula function C is unique. If F(x) and F(y) are not continuous, then C is uniquely determined on F(x) * Rang F(y). In addition, if C is a copula and F(x) and F(y) are distribution functions, then the function F(X, Y) is a joint distribution function with marginal distributions F(x) and F(y).

As shown by (16) the copula describes the dependence structure and binds the univariate marginal distribution together to a multivariate distribution function. The copula itself can be deduced from (16) directly via

$$C(u, v) = F(F_x^{-1}(u), F_y^{-1}(v))$$
(17)

From equation (12) it is possible to show that the copula is the distribution function of the continuous marginal distributions

$$C(u, v) = \Pr(F(x) \le u, F(y) \le v))$$
(18)

Fisher(1932) and Rosenblatt (1952) introduced the concept of probability integral transform. A random variable X with a continuous distribution function F(X) can be transformed into a uniform distributed random variable by applying the distribution function to the variable

$$U = F_{\chi}(X) \sim Uniform (0,1)$$
⁽¹⁹⁾

Where Uniforme (0,1) denote the uniform distribution in the interval [0,1]. By using the quantile function $X = F_x^{-1}(U) \Longrightarrow X \sim F_x$

Marginal distributions are assumed continuous, the copula C is unique and represents a mapping for d-dimensional (here d=2) unit hypercube into the unit interval $C: [0,1]^d \rightarrow [0,1]$

An important structure of dependence linked to the measuring of dependence in the upper or the lower tails of the bivariate distribution is called tail dependence. The cap of probability is that, assuming a particularly small value of "v" is basically defined as the lower tail dependence, the value of "u" also takes a very minor value, and this principle is observed when it come to the upper tail dependence. The lower asymptotic tail dependence coefficient can be defined as followed:

$$\tau^{L} = \lim P\langle U < \varepsilon | V < \varepsilon \rangle = \lim_{\varepsilon \downarrow 0} \frac{C(\varepsilon, \varepsilon)}{\varepsilon}$$
(20)

Assuming $\tau^L \epsilon[0,1]$ exists.

The upper asymptotic tail dependence coefficient is defined as

$$\tau^{U} = \lim P\langle U > \varepsilon | V > \varepsilon \rangle = \lim_{\varepsilon \uparrow 1} \frac{1 - 2\varepsilon + C(\varepsilon, \varepsilon)}{1 - \varepsilon}$$
(21)

Assuming $\tau^U \epsilon[0,1]$ exists

Thus, the tail dependence shows how probable of extreme event of one variable occurs conditional to an extreme event of another variable.

Patton (2006) introduced time-varying conditional copulas in applying Sklar's theorem. The Symmetrized Joe Copula (SJC) can be formulated with equation 22 (Patton, 2006a). When $\tau^{U} = \tau^{L}$ then the copula is symmetric:

$$C_{SJC}(u, v | \tau^{U}, \tau^{L}) = 0.5. (C_{JC}(u, v | \tau^{U}, \tau^{L}) + (C_{JC}(1 - u, 1 - v | \tau^{U}, \tau^{L}) + u + v - 1)$$
(22)

Here, the Joe-Clayton copula model is defined as:

$$C(u, v | \tau^{U}, \tau^{L}) = 1 - (1 - [(1 - (1 - u)^{K})^{-\gamma} + (1 - (1 - v)^{K})^{-\gamma} - 1]^{-1/\gamma})^{1/K}$$
(23)

$$K = 1/(\log_2(2 - \tau^U))$$
(24)

$$\gamma = -1/(\log_2 \tau^L) \tag{25}$$

It is important to emphasize that the parameters of copula τ^U and τ^L express the tail dependence of the distribution. And to parameterize the tail dependence, the following equations are established:

$$\tau_t^U = \wedge \left(w_U + \beta_U \tau_{t-1}^U + \alpha_U \cdot \frac{1}{10} \sum_{j=1}^{10} |u_{t-j} - v_{t-j}| \right)$$
(26)

$$\tau_t^L = \wedge \left(w_L + \beta_L \tau_{t-1}^L + \alpha_L \cdot \frac{1}{10} \sum_{j=1}^{10} \left| u_{t-j} - v_{t-j} \right| \right)$$
(27)

Here we use the transformation $\wedge (x) \equiv (1 + exp(-x))^{-1}$ to keep τ^{U} and τ^{L} within the (-1;1) interval.

The next copula that this thesis considers is the Gaussian (normal) copula, specified as follows:

$$C(u,v|\rho) = \int_{-\infty}^{\Phi^{-1}(u)} \int_{-\infty}^{\Phi^{-1}(v)} \frac{1}{2\pi\sqrt{(1-\rho)^2}} exp\left\{\frac{-(r^2 - 2\rho rs + s^2)}{2(1-\rho^2)}\right\} drds$$
(28)

where $-1 < \rho < 1$.

Here also the reverse of the standard normal conditional distribution function is defined as Φ^{-1} . To convert this form to a conditional copula, Patton (2006) makes use of an evolution equation for the correlation parameter ρ . ρ_t is defined as the value taken by the dependence parameter at time t, which is taken as being true in the following model:

$$\rho_{t} = \wedge \left(w_{\rho} + \beta_{\rho} \rho_{t-1} + \alpha_{\rho} \cdot \frac{1}{\rho} \sum_{j=1}^{\rho} \phi^{-1}(u_{t-j}) \phi^{-1}(v_{t-j}) \right)$$
(29)

The correlation must be allocated within (-1,1), so once more a logistic transformation is used:

$$\wedge (x) \equiv (1 + exp(-x))^{-1}(1 - exp(-x))$$
(30)

 $\Lambda(\mathbf{x})$ stands for the function of the hyperbolic tangent fixing ρ_t within (-1,1). Equation 25 exhibits the conditional parameter that allows us to apprehend the change in the dependency:

$$\left(\frac{1}{\rho}\sum_{j=1}^{\rho} \emptyset^{-1} \left(u_{t-j}\right) \emptyset^{-1} \left(v_{t-j}\right)\right)$$
(31)

As specified previously with regards to the copula, two uniform distributions of variables are used, as the exact distribution of the marginal models is unknown. Finding a suitable function that ensues the variables' uniform distribution becomes difficult. The standard residuals are

thus initially converted into ranks, and then these ranks are considered for the copula functions. The ranks are computed as:

$$R^* = \frac{R_i}{n+1} , \ S^* = \frac{S_i}{n+1}$$
(32)

Estimating the marginal distribution and copula parameters at the same time using calculations based on maximum likelihood method appears to be more difficult. Therefore, Genet & Favre (2007) assessed the pseudo maximum likelihood, meaning copula parameters and marginal models are estimated separately.

4.2.4 Choosing a bivariate copula

The selection of an appropriate bivariate copula is set up in two stages:

- 1. Based on marginal distributions, parameters are estimated related to respectively tested copulas; and
- 2. The suitable copulas are considered for the analysis.

4.2.5 Selecting parameters

The selection for different copulas is often done with regard to the maximum likelihood estimation. Thus, we will consider two very similar maximum likelihood estimations. Owing to their differences, the use of these types of estimations depend on the form of the margins estimated, and may thus be non-parametric or parametric.

1. If the margins are estimated using a parametric method, the copula parameter(s) $\hat{\theta}_c$ estimation is established around the following MLE:

$$\widehat{\theta_C} = Arg \max_{\theta_C} \sum_{t=1}^{T} \log_e C(F_1(x_{1,t}; \widehat{\theta_{M1}}), F_2(x_{2,t}; \widehat{\theta_{M2}}); \theta_C)$$
(33)

where F1 and F2 are respectively the CDF of the marginal distributions with $\hat{\theta}_1$ and $\hat{\theta}_2$ as estimated parameters, as in equation 33.

2. If the margins are estimated by a non-parametric approach, the following process will be considered:

$$\widehat{\theta_{C}} = Arg \max_{\theta_{C}} \sum_{t}^{T} \log_{e} C(\widehat{u_{1t}}, \widehat{u_{2t}}) \widehat{\theta_{M1}}); \theta_{C})$$
(34)

where u_{1t} and u_{2t} ; $t \in (1, T)$ represent the quasi inverses of the observed distribution functions from equation 29.

4.2.6. Comparing and selecting between different copulas

Following the choice of parameters for each of the examined copulas is the decision regarding the best constructed bivariate copula that is adequate for our data.

4.3. Value at risk

The concept of VaR is mostly related to risk management. VaR comes from the need to quantify within a given significance level or uncertainty the amount or percentage of loss that a portfolio will face in a predefined period of time. VaR described the greatest sum of money that one could lose with a known probability over a particular period of time. While VaR is usually used, it is, nonetheless, a contentious concept, principally due to the diverse methods used in obtaining it, the extensively different values so obtained, and the fear that management will rely too heavily on VaR with little regard for other kinds of risks.

It is relevant to note that the VaR concept expresses three factors:

- 1. A particular time horizon. A risk manager has to be interested about possible losses above one day, one week, etc.
- 2. VaR is linked with a probability. The stated VaR represents the possible loss over a certain period of time with a known probability.
- 3. The current sum of money invested.

VaR recapitulates the expected maximum loss "or worse loss" over a target time horizon within a stated confidence interval. Its greatest advantages are that it summarizes risk in a single, easyto-understand number and it does not depend on a specific kind of distribution and therefore, in theory, can be applied to any kind of financial asset.

The portfolio VaR at confidence level $\alpha \in (0,1)$ is thus given by the minimum number such that the probability that the loss L exceeds l is at most $(1-\alpha)$. Mathematically, if L represents the loss of a portfolio, then $VaR_{\alpha}(L)$ is the level α quintile, i.e.:

$$VaR_{\alpha}(L) = \inf\{l \in R; P(L > l) \le 1 - \alpha\} = \inf\{l \in R; F_L(l) \ge \alpha\}$$
(35)

The VaR measures the potential loss of an asset. The $VaR_t(1 - q, s)$ represents the qth quintile of the distribution of the s-day return $r_{t+s, s}$:

$$P[r_{t+s,s} \le VaR_t(1-q,s] = q \tag{36}$$

In view of this approach, instead of using simulation to assess the VaR of copulas, we employ time-varying dependence for the normal copulas to perceive the impact of VaR during the observation period under study. Time variation in the normal copula will be symbolized by ρ_{10} (*rho*₁₀). The estimates of normal copula have two forms: one constant ρ and another varying over time noted by ρ_t , expressed by the following evolution function:

$$\rho_{-}t = \nabla(w_{-}\rho + \beta_{-}\rho \rho_{-}(t-1) + \alpha 1/10 \sum_{j=1}^{j} (j=1)^{n} 10 \boxtimes \theta^{n}(-1) (u_{-}(t-j)))$$

$$(37)$$

We then draw on the upper and lower tail dependence of SJC copulas to evaluate the observed VaR on the tail of distribution. The upper tail will be noted by τ_U (Tau) and the lower tail noted by τ_L as shown in the study of Patton (2006), and are expressed as follows:

$$\tau_t^U = \wedge \left(w_U + \beta_U \tau_{t-1}^U + \alpha_U \cdot \frac{1}{10} \sum_{j=1}^{10} |u_{t-j} - v_{t-j}| \right)$$
(38)

$$\tau_t^L = \wedge \left(w_L + \beta_L \tau_{t-1}^L + \alpha_L \cdot \frac{1}{10} \sum_{j=1}^{10} \left| u_{t-j} - v_{t-j} \right| \right)$$
(39)

It is crucial to stress that the losses are observed at the tail. The question at this point is: at which risk? This process will allow us to understand a clear level of risk among these markets so that we can aid to investors' decision-making.

4.4 Back-testing

application on a known portfolio.

Applying the back-test is an essential part of the VaR model assessment process. It takes the values that have been computed by the chosen model and tests if that model can justify its

The statistical tests are frequently two sets of groups: unconditional coverage and independence. The violations frequencies are counted by unconditional coverage when the actual return surpasses the VaR number for that date. If the VaR level is 1% from a sample of 100 VaR estimates in contradiction of actual return observations, it would be expected that one of them is a violation.

The test for independence hypothesizes that the observations are independent of each other. Based on this hypothesis, when a violation occurs for two or more successive days, we conclude that there might be a problem with the model. The following sections describe the two types of back-testing.

4.4.1 Christoffersen test

The Christoffersen test is elucidated in Christoffersen & Pelletier (2004), and is both an independence and a likelihood-ratio test similar to the Kupiec (1995) test, in that it tests the joint assumption of unconditional coverage and independence of failures. The Christoffersen test focusing on the probability of failure rate is used in order to evaluate the estimated VaR values. The probability of failure rate in the VaR simulation is the essential point for back-testing. To conduct the test, one should first define

$$p^{\alpha} = Pr(y_t \prec VaR_t(\alpha))$$

and test

$$H_{o}: p^{\alpha} = \alpha$$

against

The constraint is that $\{l(y_t \succ VaR(\alpha))\}$ has a binomial likelihood and can be given by:

 $H_1: p^{\alpha} \neq \alpha$.

$$L(P^{\alpha}) = (1 - P^{\alpha})^{n_0} (P^{\alpha})^{n_1}$$
(40)

where $n_0 = \sum_{t=R}^T \mathbb{1}(y_t > VaR_t(\alpha))$ and $n_1 = \sum_{t=R}^T \mathbb{1}(y_t < VaR_t(\alpha))$ (Saltoglu, et al., 2003)

It becomes $L(\alpha) = (1 - \alpha)^{n_0} \alpha^{n_1}$ under the null hypothesis. Thus, the likelihood ratio test statistic can be given in equation 41:

$$LR = -2\ln(L(\alpha))/L(\hat{P})) \xrightarrow{d} \chi(1)$$
(41)

The highest benefit of this likelihood ratio test statistic is that it can reject a VaR model that generates either too many or too few clustered violations, although it needs several hundred observations in order to be accurate.

An effective estimated VaR should be below the correct value for a given percent of the cases. Likewise, there should not be any clusters of exceeding values; consequently, independence of the VaR values of each other must be observed. The last test is the combination of the first and the second test, which allows for the investigation of both of these aspects. Therefore, we may proceed with testing the VaR for the unconditional coverage and independence at the same time.

4.4.2 Kupiec test

Kupiec (1995) proposed the test of unconditional coverage, which measures whether the number of violations is compatible with the chosen confidence level. The exceptions number follows the binomial distribution, and the hypothesis test is defined as:

$$Ho: p = \hat{p} = \frac{x}{T}$$

Here, p and x respectively represent the exceptions rate from the selected VaR level and the observed number of violations. T represents the number of observations. This test is shown as a LR test and could be formulated as:

$$LR_{UC} = 2\ln\left(\frac{P^{x}(1-\hat{P})^{T-x}}{P^{x}(1-P)^{T-x}}\right)$$
(42)

The test of LR is asymptotically distributed χ^2 (chi-square) with one degree of freedom. Up to a confidence, level of 95%, and on the condition that the statistic exceeds the critical value (3.5), H_0 is denied and then the model seems inaccurate.

In this thesis, with $\alpha = 0.01$ confidence interval we assess and back-test the VaR model using Kupiec Christoffersen out-of-sample forecasting test, taking into account the Basel (2011) I prerequisite of a 99% confidence level.

Chapter: 5 Data, simulation and analysis

This section describes the data set used and emphasizes its major features. We also establish the steps for modelling process, as set out below:

- 1. First step: establishment of model and estimation of the margins of indexes of the five studies, bearing in mind their conditional mean and variance.
- 2. Estimate VaR via copula for four particular proposed portfolios constructed from our data.

5.1. Data description

For this thesis, our estimation of the VaR is based on the use of the copula framework of five stock indices in BRICS countries.

The data for stock indices was found in Yahoo Finance, except for JSE data, which was sourced from the national stock exchange. The sample period was from March 11th 2013 to May 16th 2017. In order to avoid downsize bias, we excluded the no-trading days in the observed markets.

The sample contained 1087 daily closing prices. Usually, we took the log-returns of each index, and multiplied by 100. The log-returns were expressed by $r_t = \ln\left(\frac{p_t}{p_{t-1}}\right) * 100$ and p_t represented the value of index at a given time t. If r_t was zero for at least one, this observation was not to be considered within the series.

All stock indices have a tendency. Figure 1 below displays the evolution of the BRICS stocks market indices.



Figure 5-1: The complete data set of the price indices of all stock markets

The log returns of Brazil are noted by variable retIBOV, the log returns of Russia as variable retMICEX, the log returns of India as variable retSENSEX, the log returns of China as retSSE and the log returns of South Africa as variable retJSE. However, the log differences let the series become stationary. Figure 2 presents the plot of estimated stock indices in log-differenced series.



Daily index return of Closing Prices

Figure 5-2: The log returns series of original data

Table 5-1 below shows the results founded on the ADF test and PP test. The outcome is that the distributions are stationary. Therefore, we proceed to the stage of modelling. We observe that there is no stationary of series at I (0); they become stationary when I~I (1), where I (1) shows log returns levels founded on both the ADF test unit root test and PP test.

	PP Test I(1)	ADF Test I(1)
SENSEX	-6.999	1.2012
IBOV	-9.6669	0.2492
MICEX	-26.372	0.6169
SSE	-5.7581	0.081
JSE	-16.668	0.6693
RetSENSEX	-1068.4*	-24.6228*
RetIBO	-1230.0*	-25.6189*
RetMICEX	-1179.9*	-24.4043*
RetSSE	UNIVERSIT	-23.9056*
RetJSE	JOHANNESBU	-27.1819*

Table 5-1: ADF and PP unit root test results

*stationary at 1% confidence level

The main statistical properties of the log-differenced series are shown in Table 5.2. It appears that means are close to zero and the standard deviations are very small, indicating that none of the five series has a constant term and all the data is distributed around the mean. In addition, the results indicate that no index had a significant trend over the sample period, since means are very small relative to the standard deviation of each series.

The five indices generally exhibit negative skewness (the retIBOV is, however, slightly positive) and substantial excess kurtosis. The negative skewness indicates that the negative returns happen more often than large positive returns. The means and volatilities are very similar, as expected.

Stock Market Index	retSENSEX	retIBOV	retMICEX	retSSE	retJSE
Mean	0.04075016	0.01470724	0.02580113	0.02744670	0.02549411
Std Dev	1.048581	1.760939	1.325140	1.631826	1.116976
Kurtosis	31.70484	54.58105	30.57703	9.17702	47.63502
Skewness	-0.52911225	0.09862383	-0.98869907	-1.2064227	-0.46087331
Min	-12.31295	-23.14691	-15.34293	-11.85597	-14.56619
Max	11.61895	23.32962	13.04419	10.15689	13.85882
Jarque-Bera Statistic	45719.8042** *	135330.6744* **	42655.6506***	4093.691***	103118.0737* **
Linear correlation	0.559735117	-0.0792158	0.027071103	-0.0091878	
Number of obs	1086			1086	1086

Table 5-2: Descriptive statistics of daily returns stock indices *

Notes: The Jarque-Bera statistics: *** indicate that the null hypothesis (of normal distribution) is rejected at a 1% significance level. Source: Author's calculations

ret represents log-differencing. Kurtosis and skewness is three and zero for normal distribution (Gaussian). The Jarque-Bera(JB) test invented by Jarque and Bera (1980), is a statistical test for normality.

$$JB = \frac{T}{6} \left(SK^2 + \frac{(KV-3)^2}{4} \right),$$

Where SK denotes the sample skewness, KU the sample kurtosis, and T the sample size. The null hypothesis states that the sample is drawn from a normal distribution. The appropriate test statistic is calculated as $JB \sim \chi_2^2$

Often the correlation is still used in finance. Pearson's correlation coefficient $\rho_{xy} \epsilon [-1,1]$. Person's ρ_{xy} mesures linear dependence between X and Y. Pearson's correction can be interpreted as the slope of the regression line of X and Y.

The Jarque-Bera test calculates whether the residuals have a normal distribution, and linear correlation is estimated with $\rho_{XY} = COV(X, Y)/\sigma_X \sigma_Y$.

The Q-Q-plots in Figure 5-3 show that the stock indices might not be normal. The null hypothesis of Jarque-Bera test has been rejected under 0.01 significant level, which means that neither of the series are unconditionally normally distributed.





Figure 5-3: QQ-plots of the returns of the stock market indices versus normal density

Linear correlation between the five indices is provided in Table 5-3. The retJSE-retSENSEX have the highest correlation (0.56) followed by the retIBOV-retMICEX (0.46). Between the retSSE indices and retIBOV, retSSE and retMICEX indices, the correlation is still fair (between 0.23 and 0.25). These results suggest that there is some connection between the indices of BRICS markets. These values illustrate a strong uphill linear relationship and thus indicate that copulas can be applied to improve forecasting with marginal distribution affects.

	retSENSEX	RetIBOV	RetMICEX	RetSSE	retJSE
RetSENSEX	1	-0.1104394	-0.006982222	0.01947642	0.55973512
RetIBOV	-0.1104394	1	0.463888581	0.25101459	-0.07921580
RetMICEX	-0.006982222	0.463888581	1	0.22584953	0.02707110
RetSSE	0.019476417	0.2510146	0.225849529	1	-0.00918078
RetJSE	0.559735117	-0.0792158	0.027071103	-0.0091878	1

Table 5-3: Linear correlation between the five returns of BRICS indices





Figure 5-4: Plot of JSE and SENSEX

Although there is positive correlation between these two indexes, there is difference in tails.



Figure 5-5: Plot of JSE and MICEX

This figure displays zero correlation between the two stock indices, is nearly constant and different in tails.



Figure 5-6: Plot of JSE and IBOV

The correlation is negative between the two stock indices; this correlation is not constant but it is different in tails.



There is negative correlation between these two indices, and this correlation is nearly constant

The estimates of multivariate patterns are performed in pairs. More precisely, the estimation of the joint distribution via copulas is carried out between the FTE/JSE and each of the other indices. Results show that South Africa shows its higher interdependency with India (SENSEX) than Russia (MICEX), and is negatively correlated with Brazil (IBOV) and China (SSE). These results will, however, be discussed later. The main goal at this point is to measure and evaluate the dependence structure between the FTE/JSE and the other indices.

5.2 The models for the marginal distribution

Before the estimation of copulas, we fitted the data through marginal garch distribution and the residuals of the marginal were used to estimate copulas.

It is necessary to fit an appropriate marginal distribution to the residuals before we estimate the copula model. We fitted the AR (1,0)-GARCH (1,1) models for each series as initials models with normal and t-distributions. First, we fitted retSENSEX, retIBOV, retMICEX, retSSE and retJSE index returns into models (4), (5) and (6) or (7), and then used the results to obtain the probability integral transform, U and V.

A basic AR (1,0)-GARCH (1,1) model for marginal variables was used for each index, as it is the common model used to describe financial time series (Diebold et al., 1998). The results of the parameters of these marginal distributions are provided in Table 5-4. All values except for the AR (1) values seem to significantly differ from zero.

In Table 5-4, The AR (1) terms for the retIBOV, retMICEX, retSSE and retJSE are not significantly different from zero. However, as stated before, the AR (1) terms are kept in the model so the first part is not only the constant parameter. All constant parameters are positively not significant from zero, so all indices increase over time. In all five cases, the sum of the lagged e^2 and lagged variance is smaller than 1, suggesting that the GARCH model is stationary.

UNIVERSITY ______OF ______ JOHANNESBURG

	retSENSEX	retIBOV	retMICEX	RetSSE	RetJSE
AR (1)-GARCH (1,1)-N					
Constant µ1	0.079229	0.032961	0.026057	0.033253	0.050936
	(0.029986)*	(0.045392)	(0.035227)	(0.030518)	(0.027127)
AR(1)	0.088153	-0.014852	-0.059441	0.010335	-0.000297
	(0.035551)*	(0.034978)	(0.031074)	(0.033391)	(0.034626)
GARCH constant a1	0.046230	0.104622	0.0000	0.006570	0.018827
	(0.016890)*	(0.037077)*	(0.000168)	(0.003551)	(0.006542)*
Lagged e2 β1	0.081594	0.043470	0.002076	0.057346	0.047993
	(0.019882)*	(0.009564)*	(0.000144)*	(0.009119)*	(0.008626)*
Lagged variance v1	0.869711	0.907210	0.996924	0.939037	0.927799
		—— OF —			
	(0.028427)*	(0.020616)*	(0.0001760*	(0.008563)*	(0.012119)*
Degrees of freedom v1					
Log likelihood	-1501.006	-2053.164	-1810.769	-1800.346	-1539.914
AIC	2.7735	3.7904	3.3440	3.3248	2.8451

Table 5-4: Results for AR (1)-GARCH (1,1) – Normal estimations¹

* Significance level = 0.05

¹ Software R 3.3.0 was used to obtain the log likelihood and AIC statistics.

Table 5-5: Represents the estimation of AR (1)-GARCH (1,1) – student t^2

AR-GARCH-t	retSENSEX	RetIBOV	retMICEX	retSSE	retJSE
Constant ul	0.061715	0.021901	0.035106	0.060156	0.057612
	0.001713	0.021901	0.033100	0.009130	0.037012
	(0.026422)*	(0.041002)	(0.032073)	(0.026426)*	(0.024085)*
AR(1)	0.089702	-0.017330	0.042350	0.014724	-0.003945
	(0.028848)*	(0.031428)	(0.031517)	(0.027245)	(0.031157)
	(0.020040)	(0.031420)	(0.051517)	(0.027243)	(0.051157)
GARCH constant α1	0.062619	0.277313	0.337042	0.023540	0.047223
	(0.028218)*	(0.155184)	(0.144985)*	(0.010183)*	(0.017546)*
Lagged e2 β1	0.058358	0.083078	0.129385	0.082126	0.106164
	(0.021108)*	(0.020601)*	(0.049129)*	(0.020050)*	(0.026211)*
	(0.021108)	(0.029091)	(0.048138)	$(0.020930)^{\circ}$	$(0.020211)^{\circ}$
Lagged variance v1	0.872201	0.794917	0.630458	0.916874	0.847416
	U	NIVERS	SITY		
	(0.042811)*	(0.085624)*	(0.128276)*	(0.017155)*	(0.032964)*
	JOH	ANNES	BURG		
Degrees of freedom v_1	4.570925	6.854718	5.035559	3.357759	5.671626
	(0.659187)*	(1.265258)*	(0 694494)*	(0 392215)*	(0.911972)*
	(0100)107)	(11200200)		(010) ====()	(0.0717712)
T 19 19	1400.025	1052.051	1647 760	1712.07	1425.0
Log likelinood	-1409.833	-1953.851	-104/./62	-1/12.0/	-1435.9
AIC	2.6074	3.6093	3.0456	3.1640	2.6554
	1	1			

² The software R 3.3.0 was used to obtain the log likelihood and AIC statistics

In Table 5-5, all parameters except parameters AR (1)-retSENSEX are not significant at the level 0.05 for retIBOV, retMICEX, retSSE and retJSE indices returns. For all five cases, the lagged sum e^2 and lagged variance are not greater than one, suggesting that the GARCH model is stationary.

The parameters estimated of the GARCH-t and GARCH-N models are done for all indices, as shown above. Considering the maximum log-likelihood, we believe that the student t-distribution fits for all BRICS indices.

 $u_t = F_{1t}(X_{1,t}|F_{T-1})$ and $v_t = F_{2,t}(X_{2,t}|F_{T-1})$ where $F_{1,t}$ and $F_{2,t}$ are marginal distributions conditioned to F_{t-1} , and the information variable up to time t-1. If the models were properly definite, then both series would be standard uniform. The fit thus seems good.

The Ljung-Box test used on the residuals of the GARCH-t and GARCH-N models does not reject the null hypothesis (H_0) of null autocorrelations from lag one to 10 for the residuals for both series at a significance level of 5%. The Ljung-Box test also does not reject the H_0 from lag one to 10 for the square of the residuals series at the 5% significance level. Therefore, we consider the models to be adequate. Table 5-6 shows the p-value of standardized squared residuals and standardized residuals for all returns.

UNIVERSITY OF JOHANNESBURG

	Standardized Residuals	S	Standardized Squared Residuals		
	GARCH-Normal	GARCH-Student-t	GARCH-Normal	GARCH-Student-t	
retSENSEX	0.173	0.089	0.237	0.010	
retIBOV	0.789	0.953	0.173	0.960	
retMICEX	0.893	0.869	0	0.999	
RetSSE	0.486	0.625	0.688	0.908	
RetJSE	0.009	0.069	0.049	0.958	

Table 5-6: P-value for standardized squared residuals and standardized residuals

UNIVERSITY

We observe no autocorrelation in the residuals, nor in the square of the residuals. The Ljung-Box test thus demonstrates that the model is definite.

5.3 Estimation of the copula models

After calculating the outcomes, the marginal distributions, we next needed to choose the correct copula function to precisely determine the bivariate distribution between the JSE and each of the other indices. The motivation for our use copulas lay in our aim to determine the behavior of the dependence parameter for each copula function used over time.

There are various types of copulas, but because the dependence of the returns is dynamic, we chose the time-varying copula and constant copula to describe the dependence separately. We compared the different copulas for retJSE and retSENSEX, retIBOV, retMICEX and retSSE indices returns to establish which copula can explain relations among the different stock

returns. Table 5-7 exhibits the Akaike criteria applied to decide on the most appropriate copula to examine the dependence structure between JSE and the other indices.

Models	Jse-sensex	Jse-ibov	Jse-micex	Jse-sse
	Akaike	Akaike	Akaike	Akaike
1.Non-conditional copula models				
1.1. Normal copula	-189,9095	-102,4839	-167,1352	-35,0475
1.2. Clayton copula	-165,6622	-98,84	-140,4662	-25,556
1.3. Frank copula		-96,2185		-37,0383
1.4. Gumbel copula	-171,6777	-93,0245	-154,8484	-48,6465
1.5. SJC Copula	-208,4812	-118,5856	-170,4818	-49,3201
2. Conditional copula models				
2.1. Conditional normal copula	-201,3591	-108,4552	-183,8103	-36,6261
2.2. Conditional Gumber copula	-198,4506	-119,3431	-172,0375	-42,4735
2.3. Conditional SJC copula	-218,8277	-129,6234	-181,0616	-54,3222

Table 3-7. Comparison copula models (AIC)	Table 5-	7: Com	parison	copula	models	$(AIC)^3$
---	----------	--------	---------	--------	--------	-----------

³ Patton Toolbox.

According to the Akaike criteria, we notice that the conditional SJC copula is the best fitting of the pairs. Among the estimated copulas, the Clayton copula is the "worst" fit.

The normal copula is the best among the unconditional copula models, whereas the SJC copula is the best in conditional and for all other copula functions.

We have selected the SJC copula for the joint distributions for the marginal residues of the five indices, estimating the parameters with the maximum likelihood method. Another way of selecting a copula can be performed through maximization by the Newton method on an interval search, or by the first derivative. The estimated results for normal constant and conditional, symmetrized constant and conditional SJC copulas are presented in Table 5-8.

Table 5-8: Dependence of estimated parameters of copulas between the South Africa index and other indices⁴

Type of copula	JSE-SENSEX	JSE-IBOV	JSE-MICEX	JSE-SSE
Constant normal P	0,4005	0,3001	0,3777	0,1782
Copula likelihood UN	-94,9557	-51,2429	-83,5685	-17,5247
Time-varying normal JOHA	NNESE	URG		
Constant(ω)	0,107	0,9285	0,9934	0,522
α	0,1098	0,3266	0,534	0,1688
β	1,7462	-1,4084	-1,0262	-1,0905
Copula likelihood	-100,682	-59,6743	-91,9079	-18,3158
Constant SJC				
$ au^U$	0.1856*	0,0933*	0,1810*	0,0956*

	(0.040)	(0,038)	(0,044)	(0,040)
$ au^L$	0.2486*	0,1880*	0,2157*	0,0245
	(0.037)	(0,039)	(0,041)	(0,036)
Copula likelihood	-104,242	-59,295	-85,243	-24,662
Time-varying SJC				
$\omega^{\scriptscriptstyle U}$	-1,1572	-1,8526*	0,1358	0,5743
	(1,166)	(0,727)	(1,332)	(2,188)
$\alpha^{\scriptscriptstyle U}$	-4,5293	3,5683*	-3,5977	-9,6666
	(6,305)	(1,948)	(4,499)	(8,319)
$\beta^{\scriptscriptstyle U}$	-0,9474*	0,5964*	0,3104	-0,2849
	(0,031)	(0,147)	(0,672)	(0,172)
	0,1701	0,4455	0,0538	0,8939
JOHA	(0,155) SE	(2,943)	(0,835)	(2,962)
$\alpha^{\scriptscriptstyle L}$	-0,8846	-8,1927	-4,1862	-9,9530
	(0,730)	(12,216)	(4,196)	(12,675)
β ^L	0,9215*	-0,6725	-0,1141	0,3882
	(0,042)	(0,448)	(1,104)	(0,341)
Copula likelihood	-110,352	-61,073	-87,191	-27,076

*significant level = 0.05

Notes: Table 5-8 exhibits the estimated dependence parameters of constant and time-varying copulas, the log-likelihood and the standard errors constant copulas in parentheses estimated through a bootstrap method proposed by Remillard (2010) and. Patton (2012) shows that the theoretical basis does not allow for the computation of the standard errors of time-varying copula models.

In Table 5-8, copula log likelihood displays conditional SJC copula better than the unconditional SJC copula. The constant SJC copula has τ^{μ} and τ^{L} parameters as 0.45 and 0.20 respectively – as used by Patton (2002) as standard parameters. For the portfolio in this thesis, the SJC copula has τ^{μ} and τ^{L} parameters as 0.1856 and 0.2486 for JSE-SENSEX, 0.0933 and .0.1880 for JSE-IBOV, 0.1810 and 0.2157 for JSE-MICEX and 0.0956 and 0.0245 for JSE-SENSES.

Copula likelihood demonstrates the conditional SJC copula better than unconditional SJC copula. It can also show the dynamic conditional correlations. The comparison between correlation of the constant and of the time-varying SJC is shown in Figures 5-8, 5-9,5-10 and 5-11.

We plotted (Figures 5- 8 through 5- 11) the conditional tail dependence (correlation) of the normal copula and the tail dependencies (upper and lower) of the time-varying SJC. There is significant time variation in correlation and the tail dependencies, supporting the conclusions drawn in the literature that the dependence within stock markets is time-varying (see, for example Patton (2012) and Wu and Lin (2010).

The South African stock market examined over time in mean is most correlated with the SENSEX and MICEX stock indices (refer Table 5-9).

Pair of stock markets	Maximum	Minimum	Mean	Std dev	
JSE-SENSEX	0.6333	0.1906	0.3935	0.0666	
JSE-IBOV	0.4675	-0.038	0.2947	0.0445	
JSE-MICEX	0.6500	-0.253	0.3784	0.0759	
JSE-SSE	0.3022	-0.012	0.1769	0.0238	
Source: Author's calculations					

Table 5-9: Summary statistics of the time-varying correlation variable

Source: Author's calculations

In the stock market pair JSE-IBOV and JSE-MICEX, the lower tail dependence was on average greater than the upper tail dependence, whereas the opposite is true for the pair JSE-SENSEX and JSE-SSE (see Table 5-10).

The other pairs show a tail dependence measurement with more fluctuation as calculated by the standard deviation. The range of lower tail dependence is zero to approximately 0.111, and from zero to nearly 0.095 for the upper tail dependence within the sample period.

Lower ta	Stock indices pair						
il dependen	Statistics	JSE- SENSEX	JSE-IBOV	JSE- MICEX	JSE-SSE		
ĕ	Min	0.032	0.008	0.071	0.002		
	Max	0.604	0.757	0.494	0.362		
	Mean	0.204	0.176	0.214	0.048		
	Std dev	0.086 UNIVI	0.111 ERSITY	0.065	0.059		
Upper tail d	Statistics	JSE- SENSEX	JSE-IBOV R	JSE- MICEX	JSE-SSE		
ependenc	Min	0.085	0.0358	0.0342	0.0123		
C	Max	0.373	0.551	0.584	0.340		
	Mean	0.212	0.096	0.203	0.125		
	Std dev	0.0465	0.060	0.095	0.059		

Table 5-10: Summary statistics of the measure of tail dependence

The upper and lower tail dependency paths are analogous in configurations, and differ only in scale (refer to Figures 5-8 through 5-11). Although the average of lower-level tail dependence between the JSE and other examined BRICS stock markets is greater than upper-level tail dependence, a proper asymmetric dependence test does not accept the hypothesis that the differences in tail dependencies are not the same.



Figure 5-8: The dependency structure: Normal and SJC copulas – upper and lower tail dependence between the South African and Indian stock markets (JSE-SENSEX)



Figure 5-9: Constant and time-varying normal copula and SJC copulas – upper and lower tail dependence between South African and Brazilian stock markets (JSE-IBOV)





Figure 5-10: Constant and conditional normal copula and the SJC copulas – lower and upper tail dependence between South African and Russian stock markets (JSE-MICEX)





Figure 5-11: The dependency structure of normal copula and the SJC copulas – lower and upper tail dependence between South African and Chinese stock markets (JSE-SSE)

Comparing the constant correlations and time variations in Figures 5-8 to 5-11, it is evident that the wave motion of time-varying correlations is nearly constant, with some up and down movement. The relationship appears to vary between 0.18 and 0.39; there is a limited range in which the correlation falls.

5.4 Value at risk and Christofferson back-test results

In section 4.3 we estimated the VaR method by using copula in four steps:

Determine the marginal distribution for all assets. This step is completed in 4.1 through GARCH model estimations.

- Emphasize the specification of the copula and the estimation of the copula parameter θ. These copula parameters differ from one copula to another.
- Select the fitted copula.
- Determine VaR.

To estimate the VaR, we constructed portfolio with the stock indices examined by pairs above. The simulation of VaR is based on the fitted copula, which is the SJC copula with the timevarying parameter. The model AR (1,0)-GARCH (1,1) as a standard model allowed us to emphasize how well the copula models perform. We next considered the evaluated VaR at 99%, one day ahead. First, we calculated the VaR values and then applied the Christoffersen test.

JOHANNESBURG

In order to determine if the data exceeds VaR independently and in the right proportion, we tested VaR by applying the Kupiec and Christoffersen coverage tests. The results from the Christoffersen test for retJSE paired with other indexes are displayed in Tables 5-11, 5-12, 5-13 and 5-14. For $\alpha = \{0.01\}$, the outcomes of the test show that we cannot reject the hypotheses that exceedances are independent and the proportion of the exceedances is correct. Thus, we confirm the consistency of the model.

Models	Test Value*	Number Exceptions	of
AR(1,0)-GARCH(1,1) portfolio VaR	0.0		21
Conditional SJC copula VaR	Na		0

Table 5-11:Back-testing results for the pair JSE-SENSEX

** Christoffersen back-test results at 99% confidence level.

As shown in Table 5-11, it appears that the conditional SJC copula fits. The number of exceptions is 21 for AR (1, 0)-GARCH (1,1) portfolio VaR, and zero for the conditional SJC copula, therefore the latter fulfils the regulatory capital obligations as stipulated in Basel II for this portfolio.

Table 5-12: Back-testing results for the pair JSE-IBOV

Models	Test Value*	No. of Exceptions
AR (1,0)-GARCH (1,1) portfolio VaR		14
Conditional SJC copula VaR	ESBOR(0.578	4

** Christoffersen back-test results at 99% confidence level.

The number of exception above for the AR (1)-GARCH (1,1) portfolio VaR is 14, and four for the conditional SJC copula, once again showing that it fulfils regulatory capital obligation as stipulated in Basel II for this portfolio.

Models	Test Value*	No of Exceptions
AR(1,0)-GARCH(1,1) VaR portfolio	0.681	7
Conditional SJC copula VaR	0.178	1

Table 5-13: Back-testing tests results for the pair JSE-MICEX

** Christoffersen back-test results at 99% confidence level.

As shown in Table 5-13, the conditional SJC copula is suitable.

Models	Test Value*	N0 of Exceptions
AR (1,0)-GARCH (1,1) portfolio VaR	0.006	17
Conditional SJC copula VaR	Na	0

** Christoffersen back-test results at 99% confidence level.

The same conclusion is observed above: the conditional SJC copula fulfils the regulatory capital obligation as stipulated in Basel II.

Tables 5-11,5-12,5-13 and 5-14 display the Christoffersen back-testing results. $\alpha = 0.01$, which confirms that the conditional symmetrized model provides far better results in the VaR estimation, and the conditional SJC copula is the most appropriate copula in terms of the Christoffersen test.

The number of exceptions is higher for AR (1,0)-GARCH (1,1) portfolio VaR than for the conditional SJC copula. These conclusions confirm that the conditional SJC copula satisfies the regulatory capital obligations as specified in Basel II.

Table 5-15: Comparative analysis for Latin-American, Europe and North America, and BRICS

	EWMA portfolio VaR		Conditional SJC copula VaR	
Latin-American	Test-value	No violation	Test- value	No violation
Bovespa-IPC mexico	0.86	43	0.19	36
No obs = 1,498				
	AR(1,)-Garch(1,1)-t portfolio VaR		Conditional SJC copula VaR	
Eur and North Am			,	
Dax-Ftse100	0.000	94	0.024	37
S&P500-Ftse100	0.000	94 EDCITV	0.006	37
S&P500-S&P/TSX		DF <u>127</u> NESBURG	0.006	37
No obs = 6,109				

In comparing our results with previous studies, we find that Van der Houwen (2014) uses the point of reference AR (1, 0)-GARCH (1, 1) with t-distributed errors. This benchmark seems to perform much worse. Thus, ultimately the dynamic copula does not perform better than the constant copula; however, its performance is better than the benchmark model. Van der Houwen used time-varying and constant parameters of the normal and SJC copulas to AR (p)-GARCH (1, 1) models of the S&P500-FTSE100, DAX-fTSE100 and S&P-S&P/STX returns of equity price indices in North America and Europe.

In Latin-America countries, Ozun and Cifter (2007) applied the conditional function of the copula to simulate the VaR of a portfolio containing of BOVESPA and IPL Mexico stocks in constant and equality weights. They used EWMA as benchmark against copula to assess the prediction performance. The conditional SJC copula estimates the VaR of the Latin-American equity portfolio well.

In this thesis, we used an AR (1,0)-GARCH (1,1) – which is normally used as benchmark against copulas to consider the performance of the model. The conclusion put forward that VaR simulated by CSJC copula is the best.

In general, from these studies mentioned, two important facts have been observed:

- The conditional SJC copula is useful to simulate the VaR; and
- The conditional SJC copula, at $\alpha = 0.01$ level confidence, fulfills regulatory capital requirements in accordance with Basel II in term of the number of exceptions.

In this thesis, we focused on the BRICS countries by comparing the South Africa index to the indices from each group. As pointed out in the first chapter, most studies done in risk management have focused on developed countries; few have considered BRICS countries as a block. Therefore, our focus was to analyze the performance of VaR based on the comparison of copulas and AR (1,0)-GARCH (1,1) with regard to BRICS indices. The outcome of this analysis is that the conditional SJC copula is a good estimator of VaR in these countries.

Chapter 6 Discussion and conclusion

6.1 Summary of results

The aim of this thesis has been to estimate the VaR among the BRICS financial markets using a conditional copula approach. As such, this work used the conditional copula to simulate the VaR of the JSE, SENSEX, IBOV, MICEX and SSE portfolio. The AR (1,0)-GARCH (1-1) was applied with student-t distribution and with normal errors for the marginal models of the returns in the copula framework. Out of several estimated copulas, the conditional model with regards to normal and SJC copulas seemed to be more empirically appropriate than copulas with constant parameters.

In order to test the performance of copula models, considering the AR (1)-GARCH (1, 1) as the benchmark, we implemented the Christoffersen test. The 99% VaR seemed fairly accurate, signifying that the VaR models were dependable. The standard AR (1)-GARCH (1, 1) did not perform well compared to the SJC copula, thus the conditional SJC copula performed better than the benchmark model. The time-varying SJC copula model estimated the portfolio VaR with the smallest number of exceptions in the back-test. This copula satisfies regulatory capital requirement for the investors as required in Basel II.

6.2 Limitations and future work

This work has presented just one example of assets in the portfolio, using the copula theory. Many other applications or extensions are possible. For example, in calculating the VaR of a portfolio, one needs a model for the entire joint density of the assets in that portfolio. Constructing such a model is much simpler using the conditional copula framework. Furthermore, copulas may be used to construct models for multivariate density forecasting, an area of increasing interest in finance and econometrics. The use of conditional copulas in the more general multivariate framework also remains feasible; however, some caution must be taken to keep the model evident. Furthermore, other forms of time variation in the dependence between two or more assets could be estimated, such as considering conditional copulas that vary in functional forms, such as in a Markov switching model.

Choosing α and t are subjective, liable on the confidence level α , which is the degree of protection against the risks due to numerous factors of the market movements. Characteristic values for α are 99%, 97.5%, or 95%, and the choice can be pertinent to or independent of the

purpose for which VaR is estimated. If VaR is used as a measure of risk a unit of comparison, α is simply a scale factor. Obviously, as long as the chosen confidence level stays higher, the ability to reduce losses by VaR will be greater.

Similarly, the time period t generally varies between one and 10 days, or even a month. The fundamental hypothesis is that the constitution of the portfolio remains constant over the period of time considered. Consequently, the choice of time horizon should be influenced by the frequency with which the portfolio is subject to use and the time necessitated for the liquidation of the portfolio. Future work may also consider a vine copula in a dependence structure to perform VaR.



References

Ang, A. & Chen, J., 2002. Asymmetric correlations of equity portfolios. *Journal of Financial Economics*, Volume 63, pp. 443-494.

Basel, I., 2011. A Global Regulatory Framework for More Resilient Banks and Banking Systems. s.l., s.n.

Bob, K. N., 2013. Value at risk Estimation. A GARCH-EVT-Copula Approach. *Master Thesis, Mathematical Statistics, Mathematicsl Statistics, University of Stockholm.*

Chen , X. & Fan, Y., 2004. *Estimation and model selection of semiparametric copula-based,* Nashville: s.n.

Cherubini, U., Luciano, E. & Vecchiato, W., 2001. . Methods in Finance. Wiley.

Cherubini, U., Luciano, E. & Vecchiato, W. eds., 2004. *Copula Methods in Finance*. Hoboken: John Wiley & sons Inc.

Christoffersen, P. & Pelletier, D., 2004. Backtesting Value at Risk: A Duration Based Approach. *Journal of Financial Econometrics*, Volume 2, pp. 84-108.

Dall'Aglio, G., 1956. Sugli estremi dei moment delle funzione id repartizione doppia. *AnnbScola Norm Sup Pisa. Cl Sci*, 3(10), pp. 35-74.

Demoulin, V., Embrechts, P. & Neslehova, J., 2006. Quantitative models for operational risk: Extremes, dependence and aggregation. *Journal of Banking & Finance*, 30(10), pp. 2635-2658.

Diebold, F. X., Gunther, T. A. & Tay, A. S., 1998. Evaluating Density Forecasts with Applications to Financial Risk Management.. *International Economic Review*, 39(4), pp. 863-883.

Dowd, K., 2005. Evaluating Copulas. Financial Engineering News, Volume 46, pp. 7-10..

Embrechts, P., Hoing, A. & Juri, A., 2003. Using Copulae to Bound the Value at Risk for Functions of Dependent Risks. *Finance and Stochastics*, Volume 50, pp. 987-1007.

Embrechts, P., Hoing, A. & Puccetti, G., 2005. Worst VaR scenario. *Insurance Mathematics and Economics*, 1(37), pp. 115-134.

Embrechts, P., McNeil, A. & Frey, R., 2005. *Qunatitative Risk Management: Concepts, Techniques and Tools.* 2e ed. Edinburgh: Handcover.

Fretchet, M., 1951. Sur les tableaux de correlation dont les marges sont donnees. *Ann. Univ. Lyon Sect*, pp. 53-77.

Genet, C. & Favre, C. A., 2007. Everything you always wanted to know about copula modeling but were afraid to ask.. *Journal of Hydrologic Engineering*, Volume 12.

Giesecke, K., ed., 2004/06/23. *Credit Risk Modelling and Valuation: An Introduction*. Stanford: University.

Hoedfing, W., 1940. Masstabinvariante Korrelationtheorie. Schiften des Mathemastischen .Instituts und des Instituts für Angewandie Mathematic der Univers. Berlin. Berlin: s.n.

Hotta, K. L., Lucas, C. E. & Palaro, P. H., 2008. Estimation of VaR using Copula and Extreme Value Theory. *Multinational Finance Journal*, 12 (3/4), pp. 205-218.

Hsu, P. C., Huang, W. C. & Chiou, J. W., 2012. Effectiveness of Copula extreme value theory in estimating value at risk: Empirical Evidence from Asian emerging markets. *Review of Quntitative Finance and Accounting*, 39(4), pp. 447-468.

Junker M., S. A. W. N., 2006. Non Linear Term Structure Dependence: Copula Functions, Empirics and Risk Implications. *Journal of Banking and Finance*, pp. Vol.30,pp.1171-1199.

Junker, M., Szimayer, A. & Wagner, N., 2006. Nonlinear ter structure dependence: Copula functions, empirics, and risk implications. *Journal of Banking and Finance*, 30(4), pp. 1171-1199.

Krzemienowski, A. & Szymczyk, S., 2016. Portfolio optimization with a copula based extension of conditional value at risk. *Annals of Operations Research*, 237(1), pp. 219-236.

Kupiec, P., 1995. Techniques for Verifying the Accuracy of Risk Management Models. *Journal of Derivatives*, pp. Vol.3, pp.73-84.

McNeil, A., Frey, R. & Embrechts, P., 2003. *Quantitative Risk Management*. Princeton: Princeton University Press.

McNeil, A., Rüdiger, F. R. & Embrechts, P., 2015. *Quantitative Risk Management Concepts, Techniques and Tools.* Princeton: McNeil, A. Rüdiger Frey R., and Embrechts, P., (2015), Quantitative Risk Management ConcPrinceton University Press.

Nelson, R. B., 2006. An Introduction to copulas. 2 ed. New York: Springer Verlag.

Nguyen, V. L. & Huynh, V. N., 2015. Using Conditional Copula to estimate value at risk in Vietnam's foreign exchange market. *In Econometrics of risk*, 10(3), pp. 9-26.

Ozun, A. & Cifter, A., 2011. Portfolio Value at Risk with time varying copula: Evidence from the Americas. *Marmara University*.

Palaro, P. H. & Hotta, K. L., 2006. Using Conditional Copula to estimate Value at Risk. *Journal of Science*, Volume 4, pp. 93-115.

Patton, A., 2002. Application of Copula Theory in Financial Econometrics. *Unpublished Ph. Dissertation.*

Patton, A., 2006. Modeling Asymmetric Exchange Rate Dependence. *International Economic Review*, pp. 527-556.

Patton, A. J. ed., 2012. Copula Methods for Forecsting. Multivariate Time Series. Duke: s.n.

Rank, J., 2007. Copulas: From Theory to Application in Finance.. United Kingdom: Risk Books.

Remillard, B., 2010. Goodness of fit tests for copulas of multivariate time series. Working paper.

Rockinger & Jondeau, 2006. Conditional dependency of Financial Series : An Application of Copula. *Working paper*, p. 82.

Rockinger, M. J., 2006. The Copula Garch model of conditional dependencies: An international stock market application.. *Journal of International Money and Finance,*, pp. Vol.25,3,pp.827-853.

Rockinger, M. & Jondeau, E., 2001. Conditional dependency of financial series : A Application of Copula. *Working paper*, p. 82.

Rosengerg, J., 2003. Nonparametric pricing of multivariate contingent claims. *Staff Reports, Federal Reserve Bank of New York.*, p. Vol.162.

Saltoglu, B., Senyuz, Z. & Yoldas, E., 2003. Modelling Business Cycles with Markov Switching Var Model: An Application on Turkish Business Cycles. *Metu Conference in Economics,* Volume 7, pp. 6-9.

Shim, J., Lee, S. & MacMinn, R. D., 2011. *SSRN*. [Online] Available at: <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.2139/SSRN.1840124</u> [Accessed 12 May 2017].

Sklar, A., 1959. Fonctions de repartition a n dimensions et leurs marges. *Publication de l Institut de Stastistique de l universite de Paris,* Volume 8, pp. 229-231.

Sollis, R., 2009. A simple unit root test against asymmetric STAR nonlinearity with an application to real exchange rates in Nordic countries. *Economic Modelling*, 26(1), pp. 118-125.

Torres, G. & Olarte, A., 2009. Valor en riesgo desde un enfoque de cópulas. *AD-MINISTER Universidad EAFIT*, Volume 15, pp. 113-136.

Van der Houwen, D., 2014. Time varying Copula on Equity. Eramus Universiteit, Rotterdam.

Wu, C.-C. & Lin, Z.-Y., 2010. [Online] Available at: <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/14697688.2012.727213</u> [Accessed 27 june 2017].

Yingying, H., Pu, G. & Xiang, Z., 2016. Correlations and risk contagion between mixed assets and mixed asset portfolio VaR measuring in a dynamic view: An application based on time varying copula models.. *Physica A. Statiscal Mechanics and its Application*, Volume 444, pp. 940-953..

UNIVERSITY ______OF_____ JOHANNESBURG